

Amy Ross Arguedas, Craig T. Robertson, Richard Fletcher, and Rasmus K. Nielsen





# Contents

Executive summary

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Basic descriptive facts about media use
- 3. Echo chambers, filter bubbles, and polarisation
- 4. Evidence of the existence and prevalence of echo chambers
- 5. Who might end up in echo chambers and why?
- 6. Media use and polarisation
- 7. Digital media and public discussions around science
- 8. Conclusion

References

### **Executive summary**

Terms like echo chambers, filter bubbles, and polarisation are widely used in public and political debate but not in ways that are always aligned with, or based on, scientific work. And even among academic researchers, there is not always a clear consensus on exact definitions of these concepts.

In this literature review we examine, specifically, social science work presenting evidence concerning the existence, causes, and effect of online echo chambers and consider what related research can tell us about scientific discussions online and how they might shape public understanding of science and the role of science in society.

Echo chambers, filter bubbles, and the relationship between news and media use and various forms of polarisation has to be understood in the context of increasingly digital, mobile, and platform-dominated media environments where most people spend a limited amount of time with news and many internet users do not regularly actively seek out online news, leading to significant inequalities in news use.

When defined as a bounded, enclosed media space that has the potential to both magnify the messages delivered within it and insulate them from rebuttal, studies in the UK estimate that between six and eight percent of the public inhabit politically partisan online news echo chambers.

More generally, studies both in the UK and several other countries, including the highly polarised US, have found that most people have relatively diverse media diets, that those who rely on only one source typically converge on widely used sources with politically diverse audiences (such as commercial or public service broadcasters) and that only small minorities, often only a few percent, exclusively get news from partisan sources.

Studies in the UK and several other countries show that the forms of algorithmic selection offered by search engines, social media, and other digital platforms generally lead to slightly more diverse news use – the opposite of what the "filter bubble" hypothesis posits – but that self-selection, primarily among a small minority of highly partisan individuals, can lead people to opt in to echo chambers, even as the vast majority do not.

Research on polarisation offers a complex picture both in terms of overall developments and the main drivers and there is in many cases limited empirical work done outside the United States. Overall, ideological polarisation has, in the long run, declined in many countries but affective polarisation has in some, but not all, cases increased. News audience polarisation is much lower in most European countries, including the United Kingdom. Much depends on the specifics of individual countries and what point in time one measures change from and there are no universal patterns.

There is limited research outside the United States systematically examining the possible role of news and media use in contributing to various kinds of polarisation and the work done does not always find the same patterns as those identified in the US. In the specific context of the United States where there is more research, it seems that exposure to like-minded political content can potentially polarise people or strengthen the attitudes of people with existing partisan attitudes and that cross-cutting exposure can potentially do the same for political partisans.

Public discussions around science online may exhibit some of the same dynamics as those observed around politics and in news and media use broadly, but fundamentally there is at this stage limited empirical research on the possible existence, size, and drivers of echo chambers in public discussions around science. More broadly, existing research on science communication, mainly from the United States, documents the important role of self-selection, elite cues, and small, highly active communities with strong views in shaping these debates and highlights the role especially political elites play in shaping both news coverage and public opinion on these issues.

*In summary*, the work reviewed here suggests echo chambers are much less widespread than is commonly assumed, finds no support for the filter bubble hypothesis and offers a very mixed picture on polarisation and the role of news and media use in contributing to polarisation.

### 1. Introduction

In this literature review, we examine evidence concerning the existence, causes, and effect of online echo chambers and consider what related research can tell us about scientific discussions online and how they might shape public understanding of science and the role of science in society.

We discuss online echo chambers in the context of a set of related concerns around the possible links between the rise of the internet and various digital platforms (search engines, social media, messaging applications, news aggregators, etc.) and polarisation in our societies.

Much of the existing research is focused on the United States, which is in many ways an extreme outlier among high income democracies, as political elites, the media system, and public opinion is more polarised there than in otherwise similar countries.

Thus, while we consider findings from the United States, these insights are not universally applicable. We therefore pay particular attention to comparative studies that can help capture differences and similarities across various national contexts and the situation in the United Kingdom specifically.

We seek to identify (a) areas where we believe there is a clear majority view in academic research, (b) areas where there are some empirical studies but not necessarily convergent interpretations, and (c) areas where there is at this point little evidence to help us understand a situation that is rapidly evolving in terms of both media structure and media substance (as the constant evolution of the digital media environment as well as communications around the coronavirus pandemic has shown).

Research in this area is extensive in some respects, almost non-existent in others. To avoid an overlong review, we focus our efforts on recent studies primarily in the social sciences that have a direct bearing on the possible links between media use and how the public understands the world around them. Most of the work we summarise has been peer reviewed. To be able to present an up-to-date review including work done during the coronavirus pandemic, we also draw on some empirical reports and preprints from academics working at universities and with established social science methods.

In the literature review we aim to summarise relevant empirical research and clarify the meaning of terms that are used both in public and policy debate and in more specialised scientific research, and not always in the same way. Terms like "echo chamber" and "filter bubble" have exploded into public discourse in recent years and the Hansard official record shows how these terms are increasingly used by elected officials in UK Parliamentary debates. Needless to say, public and political use of these terms are not always aligned with, or based on, scientific work. And even among academic researchers, there is not always a clear consensus on exact definitions of these concepts.

Some of the issues we discuss – around echo chambers, polarisation, and inequality – for example, raise moral and political questions and sometimes capture serious societal challenges. Our purpose here is not to outline normative positions on these but to summarise the relevant evidence. This is important to keep in mind because analytical terms such as echo chambers and polarisation often have a negative ring, but their implications of course depend on the substantive nature of the information echoed or the issues that polarise opinion.

### 2. Basic descriptive facts about media use

For context, it is important to recognise some basic, often overlooked, descriptive features of contemporary media use.

First, in high income democracies, we live in increasingly **digital, mobile, and platform-dominated media environments**. Digital media use accounts for more than half of time spent with media, mobile accounts for more than half of time spent with digital media, and the most popular products offered by a few large USbased platform companies, most importantly Google (through e.g., Google Search and YouTube) and Facebook (through the eponymous social network, Instagram, and WhatsApp) account for a large share of time spent with digital media (Hindman 2018; Nielsen and Fletcher 2020).

Second, there is an abundant supply of news online, but on average, **people spend a limited amount of time with it and many internet users do not regularly actively seek out online news**. Estimates based on web tracking – where representative panels of internet users voluntarily agree to have their internet use passively recorded – show that the share of time spent online with UK news media ranges from about three percent to about six percent (see e.g., Fletcher et al. 2020c; Hindman 2018). In addition, evidence from survey data – where representative samples are asked to describe their media use – shows that just half of UK internet users in 2021 reported they had gone directly to a news website or app (e.g., BBC News, Guardian, Mail Online, HuffPost) in the past week, with the rest relying on offline sources and/or news accessed via platforms such as search or social media (Newman et al. 2021).

Third, given the ease of accessing news online and the abundant supply, differences in individuals' active choices and regular habits play a defining role in the **overall distribution of news use, tending towards greater inequalities**, with a large minority of news lovers, about 22% of UK internet users, engaging with many different news sources on a regular basis across many different offline and online platforms, a majority of daily briefers (55%) who use a few different sources of news and a large minority of more casual users (23%) who often do not access news daily. Differences in news use are partially aligned with differences in age, gender, education, and income, both in general (Kalogeropoulos and Nielsen 2018) and around, for example, coronavirus information (Fletcher et al. 2020b).

These descriptive features are documented through a combination of surveys relying on nationally representative samples (e.g., Newman et al. 2021) and passive tracking of large parts of the online behaviour of large samples of internet users (e.g., Fletcher et al. 2021a). Though many studies are based on quantitative data from nationally representative samples, it is important to recognise that (a) there is no single-source ground truth that captures all media use (online tracking data struggles to capture behaviour inside apps such as Facebook, does not capture offline use, and can have a hard time separating meaningful from superficial engagement), (b) surveys in particular are dependent on respondents accurately remembering and describing their media use (something many people struggle to do), and (c) news and information involve an irreducibly subjective component, as there is no objective standard for what does or does not constitute, for example, news as opposed to opinion or impartiality as opposed to partisan news, and sometimes no broad-based inter-subjective consensus either, complicating measurements. (Fox News is the single most widely used source of news in the United States, and relatively highly trusted by many on the political right – at the same time, research reported in, for example, the *New York Times* and *Wired* have treated it as if everything it publishes is misinformation or "fake news".)<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See e.g. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/10/12/technology/on-facebook-misinformation-is-more-popular-now-than-in-2016.html</u> and <u>https://www.wired.com/story/right-wing-fake-news-more-engagement-facebook/</u>.

## 3. Echo chambers, filter bubbles, and polarisation

Social scientists use the term **echo chamber** to describe a particular situation some people are in as a result of media supply, distribution, and/or their own demand – namely one where they occupy what Jamieson and Capella in their influential book *Echo Chamber* defined as "a bounded, enclosed media space that has the potential to both magnify the messages delivered within it and insulate them from rebuttal" (2008, p. 76). The magnification part is typically taken to be a preponderance of attitude-consistent information (e.g., people on the left seeking out information that reinforces their pre-existing views) and the insulation part about the absence of cross-cutting exposure (e.g., people on the right not coming across centrist or leftwing perspectives that challenge their pre-existing views).

Because echo chambers are about the media space a given individual or a group occupies, echo chambers necessarily cannot be identified by analysing behaviour on or data from a single platform. In the UK, one might read exclusively partisan newspapers, which might magnify some messages, while also watching the BBC or ITV, which would mean these messages would be unlikely to be insulated from rebuttal. Or one might primarily engage with a very partisan community on Twitter, which might magnify some messages, while also coming across news from Sky News and the local newspaper on Facebook, meaning that these messages were unlikely to be insulated. To establish whether people are truly inside echo chambers – enclosed media spaces – we have to consider all the different media and sources of news they rely on, offline and online, and across different online means of discovery (direct access, social, search, etc.).

In principle, echo chambers could concern any topic and could magnify any messages one can think of – ambiguous, benign, or malign; widely accepted or controversial; evidence-based or demonstrably false, and anything in between. In practice, social scientists have primarily researched one specific type of echo chamber, namely politically partisan news echo chambers where some people exclusively get news and information from sources that are very clearly on one side of the political spectrum.

In public and policy debate the term echo chamber is sometimes used interchangeably with the term **filter bubble**, but it is important to distinguish between the two.

The term filter bubble was coined by the activist and entrepreneur Eli Pariser in his book of the same name, to capture his concern that the increasing use of personalisation in the ranking of search engine results and social media feeds would create "a unique universe of information for each of us" (2011, p. 10) eroding the possibility of a relatively shared common ground – as we might be shown more and more of things we like, while things we are not prone to like are hidden from us – on the basis of data-driven display decisions dictated by platform companies' commercial interests rather than our own active choices.

The difference between the two terms is important.<sup>2</sup> An echo chamber is a form of bubble, but the term does not prejudge why some people might live in such bubbles – it is possible, for example, that some actively chose to, that the situation is a result of demand more than distribution or supply. A filter bubble, on the other hand, is an echo chamber primarily produced by ranking algorithms engaged in passive personalisation without any active choice on our part, a possible outcome of specific aspects of how news and information is distributed online.

Thus, there are distinct questions of *outcomes* (how many people live in echo chambers versus more diverse media spaces?) and *contributing causes* (what is the relative importance of active users' choices versus algorithmic filtering in determining the diversity of sources people access?). Supply, distribution, and demand can all contribute to the formation of echo chambers.

Commentators and analysts typically worry about echo chambers and filter bubbles because they fear they will fuel **polarisation**, diminish mutual understanding, and ultimately lead to a situation where people are so far apart that they have no common ground – effectively inhabiting different realities. Polarisation can take substantially different forms. The most important forms for the purposes of this review are the following. First, ideological polarisation, which refers to the degree to which people disagree about political issues. Second, affective polarisation, which refers to people's feelings about the 'other side' – those they disagree with on a given issue. Third, news audience polarisation, which refers to the degree to which audiences for news outlets in a given country are generally more politically partisan or politically mixed.

Beyond this, the classical focus of much political science research is elite polarisation (which in turn can have very significant consequences for other forms of polarisation, an issue we return to below), and it is important to remember that while news and media use may contribute to relative increases or decreases in polarisation, many other factors are often seen by social scientists as more important – including the role of political parties in providing partisans with various cues to navigate public issues, as well as degrees of social homophily shaped by changing patterns in how and where we live, including how diverse our primary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Beyond the definitions we rely on here, the terms "echo chamber" and "filter bubble" are used in a variety of other often broad and ambiguous ways, both by academics and in public debate, and there is limited consensus on singular clear definitions.

social groups are (Guess et al. 2018; Tucker et al. 2018; McPherson et al. 2001; Mason 2015).

### 4. Evidence of the existence and prevalence of echo chambers

Social scientists have primarily relied on surveys, passive tracking data, and social media data to analyse the existence and prevalence of echo chambers. Of these sources of data, only surveys and tracking data can give a broader sense of what media space people occupy, as findings based on data from a single social media platform – virtually never used in isolation – cannot establish whether people inhabit a bounded, enclosed media space that magnifies messages while insulating them from rebuttal. Twitter data, for example, is often used for analysis because it is easier to access but is necessarily limited to Twitter specifically and says nothing about individuals' wider media use, let alone anything about the large majority of the population that does not use Twitter.<sup>3</sup> In the UK, just 31% say that they use Twitter, with only around half of these saying they use it for news (Newman et al. 2021).

Across a range of different countries, including the highly polarised United States, several cross-platform studies – both those reliant on survey data and those reliant on passive tracking data – have found that few people occupy politically partisan online news echo chambers.

One recent study (Fletcher et al. 2021b), that includes the UK, used survey data from 2020 to assess the number of people in politically partisan online news echo chambers in Austria, Denmark, Germany, Norway, Spain, the UK, and the US by looking at how many people only use news sources with left- or right-leaning slants (measured in terms of the overall ideological slant of each outlet's audience).

In the UK, the proportion of people estimated to be in a left-leaning echo chamber is around 2% and the proportion in a right-leaning echo chamber is around 5% (Fletcher et al. 2021b). This is slightly lower than in most of the other countries covered in the study. In most other cases, a minority of around 5% of people only use news sources with ideological slants in one direction. The US is the main outlier among the seven and the only one where more than 10% of the respondents are estimated to rely only on partisan news sources. In every country covered by this study, many more internet users consume no online news at all on a regular basis than inhabit politically partisan echo chambers.

The UK results from this study are broadly similar to a previous analysis, also based on survey data, that, using a more indirect measure of diversity of news use, found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> And indeed, evidence from the US has shown that some who experience little or no cross-cutting exposure on Twitter still encounter opposing views via television news – suggesting that analysis of echo chambers based on Twitter data alone will overestimate their size (Eady et al. 2019).

that around 10% in the UK said they almost never see political content on social media that they disagree with (Dubois and Blank 2018).

These findings are consistent with several other studies of other European countries. In Sweden, for instance, Dahlgren et al. (2019, p. 170) found that while some people did engage in selective exposure to partisan news sources, rates were low overall, "suggesting a pattern of cross-cutting exposure more than isolated echo chambers." The authors note that "citizens who are frequent users of online news from one side of the ideological spectrum also tend to be more frequent users of news from the other side" (p. 170). Similarly, in Spain, Masip et al. (2020) did not find strong evidence for widespread news echo chambers and observed that most people accessed "non-like-minded media" at least sometimes. In the Netherlands, Bos et al. (2016) found some evidence of partisan selective exposure to news but noted that the formation of echo chambers was largely undercut by people's common use of relatively impartial public service broadcasting. This is also an important factor in the UK, where the BBC News website is by far the most widely used online news source (Fletcher et al. 2021b).

Even in the United States, researchers have long found that echo chambers are smaller and less prevalent than commonly assumed. Gentzkow and Shapiro (2011, p. 1831) observe that "internet news consumers with homogeneous news diets are rare," and Garrett (2013, p. 248) similarly argues that the notion that large numbers of people are cocooned in pure ideological news echo chambers, cut off from other points of view, is exaggerated and wrong.

Studies based on passive tracking that automatically log people's behaviour on one or more platforms have similar findings to analyses of survey data from nationally representative samples, though there are fewer such studies from outside the United States.

In the UK, Fletcher et al. (2020c) find a relative dearth of partisan online news echo chambers in the UK, using web tracking data collected during the 2019 General Election and show that the proportion of people in like-minded echo chambers in the UK during the election was 2% among Labour voters and 4% among Conservative voters – very similar to the results of survey-based work in the UK cited above.

Similarly, in Israel, Dvir-Gvirsman et al. (2016), using web tracking data collected around the time of the 2013 election, estimate that 3% of people were in an entirely one-sided partisan media echo chamber and that, in most cases, people in Israel had either relatively diverse media diets or did not consume online news at all.

In addition to people's common use of relatively impartial public service broadcasting undercutting the existence of partisan echo chambers, we should keep in mind that – at least online – their potential size is limited by the fact that many people do not consume much online news in the first place. In the UK, around 25% of internet users say they access no online news at all each week (Newman et al. 2021).

Related research – often not specifically aiming to measure the size of echo chambers – often arrives at broadly similar conclusions by analysing patterns of media use. Again, even in the polarised United States, the results are largely similar. Using network analysis and combining TV and internet tracking data, Webster and Ksiazek (2012) find high degrees of audience overlap across news sources and concentration of audiences on large mainstream outlets. Guess (2016, pp. 17-18) observes, based on analysis of tracking data, that there is a "remarkable degree of balance in respondents' overall media diets regardless of partisan affiliation. Whether Democrat, Republican, or independent, the large bulk of these individuals' media diets cluster around the center of the ideological spectrum." Similarly, Nelson and Webster (2017) find that audiences are concentrated on a few popular political news sites and that, in general, political news sites, irrespective of popularity, have ideologically diverse audiences.

Yang et al. (2020), working with desktop and mobile data from Comscore's panels, also observe that ideologically diverse US audiences converge on mainstream news outlets online, find little evidence of ideological selective exposure and, contrary to what some have suggested, find increasing co-exposure to news sources over time. Reinforcing the results from survey data, the authors also note that many more internet users consume no online news at all than rely solely on partisan sources.

Single-platform studies are, as noted, of limited value in identifying echo chambers, but there are several important studies that identify like-minded communities formed on individual social media platforms – whether through algorithmic selection, self-selection, or some combination thereof (Bakshy et al. 2015; Barberá et al. 2015; Kaiser and Rauchfleisch 2020; Vaccari et al. 2016). Even these, however, often conclude, like Barberá (2015, p. 28), that "most social media users receive information from a diversity of viewpoints." And in the absence of evidence on what other media the individuals involved use in addition to the social media platform in question, these studies simply cannot establish whether people inhabit a bounded, enclosed media space where specific messages are magnified and insulated from rebuttal.

*In summary*, studies in the UK and several other countries, including the highly polarised US, have found very similar results whether relying on survey data or

passive tracking data. Most people have diverse media diets, those who rely on only one source typically converge on large sources with politically diverse audiences such as commercial or public service broadcasters, and only small minorities, often only a few percent, exclusively get news from partisan sources.

# 5. Who might end up in echo chambers and why?

Though a large number of empirical studies from different countries and relying on various kinds of data find that echo chambers are smaller and less prevalent than often assumed, it is still important to consider who might end up in echo chambers and why.

To understand what news and information people see, media researchers typically seek to consider the interplay between media **supply**, media **distribution**, and media **demand** (Webster 2014).

While the term "echo chamber" has sometimes been used to describe the news institution as a whole as "the media echo chamber" (Bennett et al. 2007), in a liberal democracy with a diverse media system and a multitude of independent voices expressed online, it is hard to see how, on most issues of importance, **supply** alone could lead to the formation of echo chambers. Information supply has grown enormously in recent years thanks to the growth of the internet. The data and analytics company Comscore tracks more than one thousand news and information providers online in the UK alone, and that is without counting the variety of information people can access from activists, authorities, educational institutions, political parties, scientists, and many, many other sources available online.

This leaves distribution and demand as the main possible causes for the formation of echo chambers.

In terms of **distribution**, algorithmic selection by digital platforms such as search engines and social media that make personalised display decisions for countless users using automated systems might, some fear, generate filter bubbles by reducing the diversity of information people come across, serving them more attitudeconsistent news and resulting in less cross-cutting exposure.

But empirical studies, whether based on survey data or passive tracking data, have generally found the opposite. They demonstrate that reliance on secondary gatekeepers such as search engines and social media – whatever other problems might be associated with them – is in most cases associated with more diverse news use.

This is a consistent finding across a growing number of survey-based studies (DuBois and Blank 2018; Fletcher and Nielsen 2018a; Fletcher and Nielsen 2018b; Beam et al. 2018) and studies based on various forms of passive tracking data (Flaxman et al. 2016; Cardenal et al. 2019; Fletcher et al. 2021a; Sharkow et al. 2020; Wojcieszak et al. 2021). These findings also hold across different countries (including the United Kingdom and the United States), across different digital platforms (search engines, different social media platforms, and news aggregators), and across different methods and modes of analysis. These avenues particularly increase exposure for people who are less likely to otherwise visit news sites directly (Fletcher and Nielsen 2018a; Wojcieszak et al. 2021). We are not aware of any comparable studies that have found support for the filter bubble hypothesis that algorithmic ranking leads to echo chambers (see Bruns 2019 for a more detailed overview).

To understand why algorithmic selection is consistently found to lead to more diverse news diets, not narrower diets (let alone echo chambers), it is important to remember that the median number of different sources of news that people in the UK use on a weekly basis offline is two, and just one online (Newman et al. 2021). Search engines and social media do not vastly expand this number and it is not the case that people who use these platforms have very diverse and balanced news diets. Rather, they lead people to slightly more, and slightly more diverse, sources of news than what they seek out of their own volition.

The two main drivers of this are automated serendipity, where ranking algorithms may return a result in, for example, a search query from a source that people might not normally access directly (Fletcher and Nielsen 2018b), and incidental exposure, where people come across and read news articles while on, for example, a social media site they primarily use for other purposes (Fletcher and Nielsen 2018a). (Both effects are broadly aligned with the commercial self-interest of platform companies – automated serendipity creates an experience of variety, and incidental exposure can increase time spent on social media as people come across the occasional interesting article.)

These effects are not equally strong for everyone. Passive personalisation based on past behaviour may well make algorithms more likely to recommend more news to those who already engage with a lot of news (Thorson 2020), but they are particularly important – and arguably more beneficial – for those least likely to actively seek out a lot of news on their own, such as younger people and those with lower interest in news (Fletcher and Nielsen 2018a; Wojcieszak et al. 2021).

The role of interest leads us to **demand**, the final factor we will consider in this section. The main possible causal mechanism here is self-selection: that some people actively opt into echo chambers because they prefer news that aligns with and reinforces their pre-existing views (selective exposure to attitude-consistent information) or actively seek to avoid counter-attitudinal information (selective avoidance of cross-cutting exposure).

Research on self-selection is predominantly a mix of survey and passive tracking studies akin to those discussed above, which often have high external validity but can have limited internal validity, and experimental studies that have higher internal validity but often limited external validity because of the difficulties of creating a situation akin to what media users face outside the experiment.

Broadly, a number of studies find that while many people do engage in some degree of selective exposure, they do not necessarily engage in selective avoidance (Bos et al. 2016; Garrett 2009; 2013; Garrett and Stroud 2014; Jang 2014; Johnson et al. 2011; Kim and Lu 2020; Trilling and Schoenbach 2015). As Weeks et al. (2016, p. 263) write of the US context, "although partisans exhibit some preference for likeminded sources, we find no evidence that they avoid disagreeable information but rather continue to rely mostly on a common set of mainstream, general interest news outlets. These more mainstream sources provide information that at times challenges both Republicans' and Democrats' positions, yet neither make an attempt to avoid them."

This means, for example, that while those with highly partisan political views are significantly *more* likely to use partisan news media with a similar orientation, they are not necessarily *less* likely to use other news media with a different orientation.

Evidence from selective exposure experiments – which show different people's *tendencies* to select content they agree or disagree with – has indicated that the people most likely to choose pro-attitudinal content are those who have stronger partisan/ideological beliefs, are more certain about their beliefs, or who are more politically interested/engaged (Iyengar and Hahn 2009; Knobloch-Westerwick and Meng 2009; Kim and Lu 2020). Similarly, studies focused on specific social media also find that people most likely to be deep into like-minded communities are strong partisans (Barberá 2015; Boutyline and Willer 2017).

But, importantly, many people do not have particularly strongly held political views and do not primarily approach news and media through a political lens (Bos et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2020). Often, basic interest, in turn partly aligned with levels of education and income, is a more important factor.

In Europe, public service media often help bridge these gaps, with differences between those with low interest and high interest being smaller in countries like the UK that have widely used public service media (Castro-Herrero et al. 2018). But many people self-select away from politics and news, choosing entertainment content instead (Prior 2005), and people with more limited levels of formal education and lower levels of income generally use less news than more privileged parts of the population (Kalogeropoulos and Nielsen 2018).

This is a reminder that, while of great interest to politicians and political scientists, politics is not the only, or even main determinant of news and media use. Media use is often more shaped by habits that in turn reflect a mix of instrumental uses and

preferences anchored in social contexts that often exhibit more significant homophily in terms of social class than in terms of politics (Bos et al. 2016; Dahlgren 2019; Dubois and Blank 2018; Garrett et al. 2013; Johnson et al. 2011; Skovsgaard et al. 2016; Van Aelst et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2020).

*In summary*, studies in the UK and several other countries, have found that algorithmic selection generally leads to slightly more diverse news use – the opposite of what the filter bubble hypothesis posits – but that self-selection, primarily among a small minority of highly partisan individuals, can lead people to opt in to echo chambers, even as the vast majority do not, and document that limited news use remains far more prevalent than echo chambers are.

### 6. Media use and polarisation

Polarisation, in social science, refers to divisions between groups. It can be used to describe a situation where divisions are already sufficiently large to be considered polarised, or a process whereby divisions are becoming larger over time (even though they may still be quite small). Polarisation can take many forms and is not always intrinsically problematic (some things are worth disagreeing over, see Kreiss 2019).

Just as many assume that echo chambers are pervasive and filter bubbles are real – despite evidence to the contrary – there is widespread public and political concern over polarisation in many countries. Some surveys which aim to measure perceived polarisation suggest much of the public *feel* that the UK is more divided today than in the past.<sup>4</sup>

Social scientists examine a range of different kinds of polarisation of the public, including **ideological polarisation**, **affective polarisation**, and **news audience polarisation**. As with any attempt to measure a change over time, decisions about what time frame to consider will influence conclusions, and often, there is little consistent data allowing for rigorous longitudinal analysis.

Ideological polarisation, sometimes termed issue polarisation, has been a longstanding focus of political science and focuses on divisions in public opinion on a range of different policy issues. Looking back several decades, comparative research based on the World Values Survey has found some support for the idea that Left/Right polarisation has decreased in many high-income democracies and electoral volatility increased, even as other divisions, sometimes over so-called "post-material" issues, have become more important (Dalton 2006; Ingelhart 2017). However, divisive elections in the last two decades have led to a resurgence of interest in whether political partisans' views have become more polarised again (Abramowitz 2010; Fiorina and Abrams 2008; Iyengar et al. 2012), with one summary in the United States concluding that while public opinion overall on many issues has not become markedly more polarised in recent years on average, it has increased among the most politically engaged (Prior 2013; see also Mason 2013). In the UK, in the longer term, the polarisation of party supporters has declined since the 1970s, as have both perceived polarisation and expert evaluations of polarisation (Rehm and Reilly 2010). Other analyses have also found declines in polarisation in the UK (Adams et al. 2012a; Adams et al. 2012b), but many of these studies are from before Brexit and other recent divisive political discussions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See e.g. <u>https://www.britainschoice.uk/media/x2mhxg1z/britain-s-choice-chapter-5.pdf</u>

**Affective polarisation** refers to how much opposing partisans dislike one another. Most research on affective polarisation has been conducted in the United States and, in contrast to ideological polarisation, affective polarisation clearly seems to be on the rise – as one team of researchers find that ordinary Americans increasingly dislike and distrust those from the other party (Iyengar et al. 2019; see also Mason 2013). In the UK, there is evidence that affective polarisation exists between Labour and Conservative voters and also around opinion-based groups that either support or oppose Brexit (Hobolt et al. 2021). Comparative work on affective polarisation is in its infancy, but a few studies have been published recently. They find that levels of affective polarisation vary greatly by country (complicating the notion that polarisation is pronounced everywhere) and document considerable variation in patterns over time (belying the notion that a single universal cause – for example the spread of the internet – is driving polarisation everywhere) (Gidron et al. 2019; Boxell et al. 2020; Reiljan 2020). In several of these studies, Britain is found to have higher levels of affective polarisation than multiparty political systems in other parts of Northern and Western Europe, though one of these studies actually suggests affective polarisation in the UK may have declined since the 1980s (Boxell et al. 2020).

News audience polarisation, finally, refers to the structure of aggregate public attention to news media, to whether a country is home to large news outlets with both strongly left- and strongly right-leaning audiences, as opposed to outlets with mostly mixed or centrist audiences (Fletcher et al. 2020a). Again, the situation in the United States – where highly partisan news brands including, most importantly, Fox News play an important role – has led some to suggest that news media use is increasingly fragmented and polarised. Despite the very real importance of some highly partisan brands (Benkler et al. 2018), even in the United States, Nelson and Webster's (2017) analysis of Comscore tracking data found that, despite huge choice, most people tend to congregate around a few popular news outlets and that all news sites - including partisan ones - attract reasonably ideologically diverse audiences. Comparative work based on survey data from a sample of 12 high-income democracies suggests that cross-platform (online and offline) news audience polarisation is highest in the United States but lower within Europe. The UK has relatively high levels of news audience polarisation by European standards – largely thanks to widely used partisan newspapers - but overall levels are still low (Fletcher et al. 2020a).

There is an extensive literature in political science and sociology about the drivers of polarisation, with considerable attention to elite cues from politicians (Rogowski and Sutherland 2016; Iyengar et al. 2012) and to social dynamics including social homophily and various kinds of social sorting – all predominantly rooted in our

offline lives, where we work, who we spend time with, where we live (see e.g., Guess et al. 2018; McPherson et al. 2001; Mason 2015).

There is also some work on media, including media reporting about polarisation. US studies find that exposure to like-minded partisan media under experimental conditions can strengthen the views of already partisan individuals (Levendusky 2013). Panel survey work, which measures the same people's media use and attitudes at different points in time, has also found that using like-minded partisan media in the US can increase anger toward the 'other side' and make people more willing to share political information on social media (Hasell and Weeks 2016). At the same time, cross-cutting exposure, at least on social media, also seems to be able to increase polarisation, at least among political partisans (Bail et al. 2018). Furthermore, experimental work finds that exposing people to media coverage about political polarisation may in itself increase perceptions of polarisation and contribute to increased dislike for the opposition (Levendusky and Malhotra 2016).

Work in the United States stresses that these factors are sometimes asymmetrical, in terms of the degree to which individual political leaders actively seek to polarise the public, and in terms of the role of individual news media – there is a growing literature documenting the impact of Fox News specifically (DellaVigna and Kaplan 2007; Hopkins and Ladd 2013). Furthermore, broader changes in both news supply and media use, suggesting a relative decline in coverage of and attention to local politics and more focus on often more divisive national politics, also seems to be a possible contributor to polarisation in the United States (Martin and McCrain 2019).

There is much less work from outside the United States and no clear overall set of convergent findings. Experimental work from the Netherlands, for example, has found that while people might have a tendency to engage in selective exposure, this does not necessarily polarise people's attitudes (Trilling et al. 2017). Yet Wojcieszak et al. (2018), analysing panel survey data in the Netherlands, found that people with strong opinions about the EU polarised in their views after being exposed to news about the EU.

*In summary*, the picture on polarisation is complex and research is often limited outside the United States. Overall, ideological polarisation has, in the long run, declined in many countries, but affective polarisation has in some cases, but not all, increased. News audience polarisation is much lower in most European countries, including the United Kingdom. Much depends on the specifics of individual countries and what point in time one measures change from, and there are no universal patterns, suggesting country-specific factors drive national developments, including most importantly the behaviour of political elites and social dynamics. When it comes to media, there is limited research outside the US and this work does not always find the same patterns as those identified in the US but, at least in the specific context of the United States, it seems that exposure to like-minded political content can potentially polarise people or strengthen the attitudes of people with existing partisan attitudes, and that cross-cutting exposure can potentially do the same for political partisans.

### 7. Digital media and public discussions around science

Virtually all the studies reviewed above on echo chambers, filter bubbles, and polarisation are concerned with the interplay between politics, news, and media use.

This work provides a set of basic findings about the dynamics of contemporary news media use, the relative importance of algorithmic ranking versus self-selection in shaping it, and how engagement with some forms of information can further strengthen already strongly held beliefs.

Many of these dynamics may also be relevant for understanding the role that digital media play in public discussions around science topics. But research in this area is largely separate from the political communication and media research traditions discussed above that have usually focused on politics specifically, or news and media use as a whole, rather than specific topics. And while terms like echo chambers, filter bubbles, and the like are beginning to feature in discussions among scientists and science communication scholars, these discussions, when research-based, are generally based on the research reviewed above (see e.g., Scheufele et al. 2017; Scheufele and Krause 2019; West and Bergstrom 2021). Empirical research specifically on the possibility of echo chambers and the like in online scientific discussions is still very limited.

There are different strengths and weaknesses of either looking at media use as a whole or focusing on discussions around different topics – and this can sometimes lead to different results and interpretations. Scholarship on selective exposure and polarisation around various science issues illustrates how the concepts, theories, and methods the research reviewed so far relies on can also shed light on science discussions but also underlines that dynamics are not always the same with these topics as with, say, party politics.

In the US, some studies have examined selective exposure around various science issues like genetically modified foods, nanotechnologies, stem cell research, and fracking (Jang 2013; Knobloch-Westerwick et al. 2015; Yeo et al. 2015). These studies have found evidence of selective exposure for some topics but, in general, the preference for like-minded information is less clear than it is for partisan political topics, it varies by subject, and sometimes shows opposite patterns in which people seek out opposing views (see Stroud 2017 for a review). Indeed, in the US, "not all science topics cohere with partisan perspectives" (Stroud 2017, p. 379) and it is likely that the strength and direction of these associations varies not only by topic but also from one country to the next.

That said, there are growing concerns about selective exposure in scientific domains that have become politically aligned, emotionally loaded, and more explicitly and actively politically polarised in some countries (e.g., Nisbet et al. 2015).

Elite cues seem critically important here. In making sense of how climate change became a more ideologically polarised issue in the United States over time, even as the scientific consensus grew stronger, Merkley and Stecula (2018) analysed news items over more than three decades and found that while Democratic politicians consistently acknowledged climate change in the media over time, Republican messages were ambiguous - and polarisation increased as more Republican-elected officials began actively and publicly denying climate change. They suggest that Republican voters' rejection of climate science may have been in part a direct response in opposition to cues from Democratic elites these voters regard with scepticism, a proposition they provide further evidence for in a separate study based on more than 200 surveys between 1984 and 2014 (Merkeley and Stecula 2020). Similarly, Brulle et al. (2012, p. 185) argue "the most important factor in influencing public opinion on climate change [is] the elite partisan battle over the issue," and they show how US public opinion on the threat of climate change has been moved more by elite cues - in particular, Republican politicians' opposition to climate change bills – than by media coverage, which by and large mirrored those cues while also presenting the Democrats' position.

Analogous arguments have been made in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, where research in the US has shown polarisation in elite communication about the issue, with Democrats emphasising threats to public health and American workers, and Republicans placing greater emphasis on China and businesses early on in the pandemic (Green et al. 2020; see also Hart et al. 2020). Hamilton and Safford (2021) used survey data to show that trust in science agencies like the CDC declined rapidly among Republicans in the US but not Democrats, following Donald Trump's changing views toward the CDC, views that were in turn amplified by conservative media including Fox News. This further underlines how top-down cues from political elites, including most prominently the President, were crucial to the deep partisan divide that formed around the subject.

The relative absence of similar levels of polarisation in discussions around and public opinion on issues such as climate change and the coronavirus in many countries where political elites have behaved differently is a reminder of how important country-specific factors are, even as wider changes in the media system may be broadly similar. Content-analysis based research has in the past shown how, for example, news coverage of climate change is broadly based on the scientific consensus in countries where most elected officials recognise it but features climate change deniers and their views more prominently in countries where some politicians or even whole political parties have embraced these views (Painter and Ashe 2012). Work from Canada (Merkley et al. 2020) demonstrates the importance of cross-party consensus elite cues in shaping the public's perception of and response to COVID-19, just as work from Brazil (Gramacho et al. 2021) shows how very differently things developed in Brazil as Jair Bolsonaro's most avid supporters took their cues from the President.

A growing body of research has also sought to better understand the dynamics of public discussions around science online. Much of this work is not concerned with echo chambers, filter bubbles, and polarisation as defined here, but it can help us understand some of the ways in which digital media are used to discuss science.

In general, much of this research has documented a tendency for social media groups that actively discuss scientific issues to be made up of somewhat homogenous, segregated, and often polarised communities of interest with limited intersections between groups holding opposing views, and the vast majority of users on any given platform not taking any active role in any of these discussions of science. This is similar to broader dynamics online where communities of interest tend to coalesce, often around perfectly benign shared interests but sometimes around more ambiguous activities and, of course, in some instances, around shared interest in views that are demonstrably false and activities that are potentially harmful (Philips and Milner 2017).

Some of this research has compared differences between groups that form around science versus conspiracy news (Del Vicario et al. 2016a; Del Vicario et al. 2016b), whereas other research has focused on specific topics like vaccines (Cinelli et al. 2021; Cossard et al. 2020; Dunn et al. 2015; Schmidt et al. 2018), abortion (Cinelli et al. 2021), climate change (Williams et al. 2015), and most recently COVID-19 (Wang and Qian 2021).

In line with studies of political discussions online, people identified as active in these online discussions are often relatively small minorities who have strong attitudes on the subject (Williams et al. 2015), potentially skewing the online debate toward the more extreme attitudes of these active, vocal, opinionated minorities. In their analysis of the Italian vaccination debate on Twitter, Cossard et al. (2020) found differences in the structures of the polarised groups. Vaccine sceptics tended to form smaller but louder groups that were more tightly connected, whereas vaccine advocates tended to organise in a more hierarchical fashion around certain authoritative actors. Elsewhere, scientists have studied alternative media ecosystems involving websites and various other actors who repeatedly share the same disinformation, often across a wide variety of issues and topics, advancing political conspiracies alongside content such as climate science denial, anti-vaccine

pseudoscience, and flat earth theory and trying to promote these on social media platforms such as Twitter to reach beyond those already actively involved in the communities in question (Starbird 2017; Starbird et al. 2019).

These studies are important and valuable for understanding online social dynamics and well-suited to provide evidence for self-selection, homophily, and polarisation dynamics between groups that focus on controversial topics (and how they may vary from one platform to another), but they are less helpful in examining the phenomenon of echo chambers as understood here – despite the occasional use of the term "echo chambers" in a broader sense of people being actively engaged in an online community of like-minded people. Because many of these are singleplatform studies based on data from one social network, and often deliberately study already highly engaged and therefore unusual communities (rather than nationally representative samples or exhaustive studies of all users), we should be cautious about (a) generalising to the population at large, (b) generalising to discussion of other less divisive topics, and (c) whether they accurately describe the vast majority of social media users who are not engaged in these discussions, or have only the most peripheral contact with them.

*In summary*, public discussions around science online may exhibit some of the same dynamics as those observed around politics – with an important role for self-selection, elite cues, and small highly active communities with strong views in explaining the dynamics of these debates – but fundamentally, while important studies have been published, mostly from the US, there is at this stage limited empirical research on the possible existence, size, and drivers of echo chambers in public discussions around science. More broadly, years of research document the role political elites play in shaping both news coverage and public opinion around science issues as well.

# 8. Conclusion

In this review, we have examined evidence concerning the existence, causes, and effects of online echo chambers and have considered what related research can tell us about scientific discussions online and how they might shape public understanding of science and the role of science in society.

There are a number of areas where our review suggests that there is a **clear majority view** in academic research, including most notably:

- Politically partisan online news echo chambers are generally small much smaller than is often assumed in public and policy debate.
- Automated serendipity and incidental exposure mean that relying on search engines, social media, and other digital platforms using algorithmic ranking leads people to slightly more diverse news the opposite of what the filter bubble hypothesis posits.
- Self-selection, both along partisan lines and, importantly, in terms of levels of interest, plays a significant role in shaping news and media use.
- There is no single uniform trend towards greater polarisation ideological polarisation has declined in some countries, affective polarisation has increased, news audience polarisation varies greatly, and in every case, country-specific factors seem decisive, not a single global trend like the rise of the internet.
- Elite cues continue to play an important role in shaping both news coverage and public opinion, with the behaviour of political parties and individual prominent politicians often contributing to polarisation, whether around ideological issues or science issues such as climate change.

Given the amount of research on these issues arriving at broadly similar conclusions, the burden of proof now, in our view, is on those arguing for alternative interpretations to provide systematic evidence.

Furthermore, there are several areas where there are **some empirical studies** but not necessarily convergent interpretations, or only convergent interpretations supported by data from a single or a few countries. These areas include, most notably:

- News audience polarisation is higher online than offline in some but not all countries.
- Engagement with partisan news and media can increase polarisation.
- Cross-cutting exposure may also increase polarisation among partisans.

• Relatively small minorities of unusually active and opinionated individuals often animate online debates, even as the vast majority of internet users pay little or no attention to these partisan discussions.

There is evidence for all these, but it is either mixed or exclusively from one country, so we cannot necessarily assume these findings apply everywhere.

Finally, there are many areas where there is at this point **little empirical research** to help us understand a situation that is rapidly evolving. These include, among other things:

- Whether echo chambers and the like work broadly in the same ways around science issues as around more conventionally political issues.
- How self-selection driven by forms of opinion other than political ones operate and how self-selection based on partisanship and/or interest shapes engagement with news and information around science.
- The extent to which dynamics identified in studies of online news sites/apps and established digital platforms including search engines and social media are similar on less studied but potentially important platforms including messaging applications, video sites, and new social media platforms.

In closing, let us make three final points.

First, a large number of empirical studies documenting that echo chambers are smaller than commonly assumed, and a growing amount of research rejecting the filter bubble hypothesis should not be confused with a Panglossian belief that we live in the best of all possible worlds or that our increasingly digital, mobile, and platform-dominated media environment does not come with any serious societal challenges. There are many, including the frequently overlooked fact of pronounced inequality in news and information use documented by many of the studies reviewed here, as well as a multitude of others, such as widespread online harassment and abuse, various kinds of misinformation, often invasive data collection by dominant platforms, a serious disruption of the established business of news and market concentration, and many more issues beyond the scope of this review.

Second, the risks associated with people primarily seeking out attitude-consistent information, let alone living in bounded media spaces where their pre-existing views are rarely challenged, can be much smaller than many believe while still being present, and it is clearly possible for people to come to hold very polarised views – sometimes views that are contradicted by the best available scientific research – without living in echo chambers or filter bubbles. Sometimes minorities, however small, play an important role in driving public and policy debate and decision

making. (As Guess (2021, p. 12) puts it, in the US context, "even if most Americans do not exist in online echo chambers, they are subject to the political influence of those who do.") And sometimes confirmation bias, motivated reasoning, and social reinforcement from the communities we spent most of our offline lives with will mean we have very strong views, even as we also see a wide range of different kinds of information via news and media.

Third, research in this area is extensive in some respects, almost non-existent in others. Among other things, there is often a dearth of research outside the United States, much less research on scientific issues specifically than on politics and media use more generally, and little work on several important established platforms and many newer and smaller platforms – and all this work could be greatly facilitated if academic researchers had better access to data in a privacy compliant and secure way from platform companies.

#### References

- Abramowitz, A. I. (2011). *The disappearing center: Engaged citizens, polarization, and American democracy*. Illustrated edition. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Adams, J., Green, J., & Milazzo, C. (2012a). Has the British public depolarized along with political elites? An American perspective on British public opinion. *Comparative Political Studies, 45*(4), 507–530. https://doi.org/10.1177/0010414011421764
- Adams, J., Green, J., & Milazzo, C. (2012b). Who moves? Elite and mass-level depolarization in Britain, 1987–2001. *Electoral Studies, 31*(4), 643–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2012.07.008
- Bail, C. A., Argyle, L. P., Brown, T. W., Bumpus, J. P., Chen, H., Fallin Hunzaker, M. B., Lee, J., Mann, M., Merhout, F., & Volfovsky, A. (2018). Exposure to opposing views on social media can increase political polarization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(37), 9216–9221. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1804840115
- Bakshy, E., Messing, S., & Adamic, L. A. (2015). Exposure to ideologically diverse news and opinion on Facebook. *Science*, *348*(6239), 1130–1132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa1160</u>
- Barberá, P. (2015). How social media reduces mass political polarization. Evidence from Germany, Spain, and the US. Unpublished manuscript.
- Barberá, P., Jost, J. T., Nagler, J., Tucker, J. A., and Bonneau, R. (2015). Tweeting from left to right: Is online political communication more than an echo chamber? *Psychological Science*, *26*(10), 1531–1542. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615594620</u>
- Beam, M. A., Hutchens, M. J., & Hmielowski, J. D. (2018). Facebook news and (de)polarization: Reinforcing spirals in the 2016 US election. *Information, Communication & Society, 21*(7), 940–958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2018.1444783</u>
- Benkler, Y., Faris, R., & Roberts, H. (2018). Network propaganda: Manipulation, disinformation, and radicalization in American politics. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Bennett, W. L., Lawrence, R. G., & Livingston, S. (2007). *When the press fails: Political power and the news media from Iraq to Katrina*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

- Bos, L., Kruikemeier, S., & de Vreese, C. (2016). Nation binding: How public service broadcasting mitigates political selective exposure. *PLOS ONE, 11*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155112
- Boutyline, A., & Willer, R. (2017). The social structure of political echo chambers: Variation in ideological homophily in online networks. *Political Psychology*, *38*(3), 551–569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12337</u>
- Boxell, L., Gentzkow, M., & Shapiro, J. (2020). *Cross-country trends in affective polarization*. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w26669</u>
- Brulle, R.J., Carmichael, J., & Jenkins, J. C. (2012). Shifting public opinion on climate change: An empirical assessment of factors influencing concern over climate change in the U.S., 2002–2010. *Climatic Change*, 114(2), 169–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0403-y
- Bruns, A. (2019). Filter bubble. *Internet Policy Review*, 8(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.14763/2019.4.1426</u>
- Cardenal, A. S., Aguilar-Paredes, C., Galais, C., & Pérez-Montoro, M. (2019). Digital technologies and selective exposure: How choice and filter bubbles shape news media exposure. *International Journal of Press/Politics, 24*(4), 465–486. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161219862988
- Castro-Herrero, L., Nir, L., & Skovsgaard, M. (2018). Bridging gaps in cross-cutting media exposure: The role of public service broadcasting. *Political Communication, 35*(4), 542–565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2018.1476424</u>
- Cinelli, M., De Francisci Morales, G., Galeazzi, A., Quattrociocchi, W., & Starnini, M. (2021). The echo chamber effect on social media. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118*(9), e2023301118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2023301118</u>
- Cossard, A., De Francisci Morales, G., Kalimeri, K., Mejova, Y., Paolotti, D., & Starnini, M. (2020). Falling into the echo chamber: The Italian vaccination debate on Twitter. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media, 14*, 130–140
- Dahlgren, P. M. (2019). Selective exposure to public service news over thirty years: The role of ideological leaning, party support, and political interest. *International Journal of Press/Politics, 24*(3), 293–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161219836223</u>

- Dalton, R. J. (2006). Social modernization and the end of ideology debate: Patterns of ideological polarization. *Japanese Journal of Political Science*, 7(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1468109905002045
- DellaVigna, S., & Kaplan, E. (2007). The Fox News effect: Media bias and voting. *Quarterly Journal of Economics, 122*(3), 1187–1234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/qjec.122.3.1187</u>
- Del Vicario, M., Bessi, A., Zollo, F., Petroni, F., Scala, A., Caldarelli, G., Stanley, H.
  E., & Quattrociocchi, W. (2016a). The spreading of misinformation online.
  *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113*(3), 554.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1517441113">https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1517441113</a>
- Del Vicario, M., Vivaldo, G., Bessi, A., Zollo, F., Scala, A., Caldarelli, G., & Quattrociocchi, W. (2016b). Echo chambers: Emotional contagion and group polarization on Facebook. *Scientific Reports*, *6*(1), 37825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37825</u>
- Dubois, E., & Blank, G. (2018). The echo chamber is overstated: The moderating effect of political interest and diverse media. *Information, Communication & Society, 21*(5), 729–745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2018.1428656</u>
- Dunn, A. G., Leask, J., Zhou, X., Mandl, K. D., & Coiera, E. (2015). Associations between exposure to and expression of negative opinions about human papillomavirus vaccines on social media: An observational study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 17(6), e144. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4343</u>
- Dvir-Gvirsman, S., Tsfati, Y., & Menchen-Trevino, E. (2016). The extent and nature of ideological selective exposure online: Combining survey responses with actual web log data from the 2013 Israeli elections. *New Media & Society*, *18*(5), 857–877. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814549041</u>
- Eady, G., Nagler, J., Guess, A., Zilinsky, J., & Tucker, J. A. (2019). How many people live in political bubbles on social media? Evidence from linked survey and Twitter data. SAGE Open, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019832705
- Fiorina, M. P., & Abrams, S. J. (2008). Political polarization in the American public. Annual Review of Political Science, 11(1), 563–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.11.053106.153836</u>
- Flaxman, S., Goel, S., & Rao, J. M. (2016). Filter bubbles, echo chambers, and online news consumption. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 80(S1), 298–320. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfw006</u>

- Fletcher, R., & Nielsen, R. K. (2018a). Are people incidentally exposed to news on social media? A comparative analysis. *New Media & Society*, 20(7), 2450– 2468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817724170</u>
- Fletcher, R., & Nielsen, R. K. (2018b). Automated serendipity: The effect of using search engines on news repertoire balance and diversity. *Digital Journalism*, 6(8), 976–989. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2018.1502045</u>
- Fletcher, R., Cornia, A., & Nielsen, R. K. (2020a). How polarized are online and offline news audiences? A comparative analysis of twelve countries. *International Journal of Press/Politics*, 25(2), 169–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161219892768</u>
- Fletcher, R., Kalogeropoulos, A., & Nielsen, R. K. (2021a). More diverse, more politically varied: How social media, search engines and aggregators shape news repertoires in the United Kingdom. *New Media & Society*, July. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14614448211027393</u>
- Fletcher, R., Kalogeropoulos, A., Simon, F. M., & Nielsen, R. K. (2020b). Information inequality in the UK coronavirus communications crisis. Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism.
  <u>https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/information-inequality-uk-coronavirus-communications-crisis</u>
- Fletcher, R., Newman, N., & Schulz, A. (2020c). A mile wide, an inch deep: Online news and media use in the 2019 UK general election. Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. <u>https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/milewide-inch-deep-online-news-and-media-use-2019-uk-general-election</u>
- Fletcher, R., Robertson, C. T., & Nielsen, R. K. (2021b). How many people live in politically partisan online news echo chambers in different countries? *Journal* of Quantitative Description: Digital Media, 1. https://doi.org/10.51685/jqd.2021.020
- Garrett, R. K. (2009). Politically motivated reinforcement seeking: Reframing the selective exposure debate. *Journal of Communication, 59*(4), 676–699. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2009.01452.x
- Garrett, R. K. (2013). Selective exposure: New methods and new directions. *Communication Methods and Measures*, 7(3–4), 247–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19312458.2013.835796</u>
- Garrett, R. K., & Stroud, N. J. (2014). Partisan paths to exposure diversity: Differences in pro- and counterattitudinal news consumption. *Journal of Communication, 64*(4), 680–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12105</u>

- Garrett, R. K., Carnahan, D., & Lynch, E. K. (2013). A turn toward avoidance? Selective exposure to online political information, 2004–2008. *Political Behavior, 35*(1), 113–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-011-9185-6</u>
- Gentzkow, M., & Shapiro, J. M. (2011). Ideological segregation online and offline. *Quarterly Journal of Economics, 126*(4), 1799–1839. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjr044</u>
- Gidron, N., Adams, J., & Horne, W. (2019). Toward a comparative research agenda on affective polarization in mass publics. *APSA Comparative Politics Newsletter, 29*, 30–36.
- Gramacho, W., Turgeon, M., Kennedy, J., Stabile, M., & Santos Mundim, P. (2021). Political preferences, knowledge, and misinformation about COVID-19: The case of Brazil. *Frontiers in Political Science*, *3*(36). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpos.2021.646430</u>
- Green, J., Edgerton, J., Naftel, D., Shoub, K. & Cranmer, S. J. (2020). Elusive consensus: Polarization in elite communication on the COVID-19 pandemic. *Science Advances*, eabc2717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30315-0</u>
- Guess, A. M. (2016). Media choice and moderation: Evidence from online tracking data. Unpublished manuscript.
- Guess, A. M. (2021). (Almost) everything in moderation: New evidence on Americans' online media diets. *American Journal of Political Science*, February. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12589</u>
- Guess, A. M., Nyhan, B., Lyons, B., & Reifler, J. (2018). Avoiding the echo chamber about echo chambers: Why selective exposure to like-minded political news is less prevalent than you think. Miami, FL: Knight Foundation.
- Hamilton, L. C., & Safford, T. G. (2021). Elite cues and the rapid decline in trust in science agencies on COVID-19. *Sociological Perspectives*, 07311214211022391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/07311214211022391</u>
- Hart, P. S., Chinn, S., & Soroka, S. (2020). Politicization and polarization in COVID-19 news coverage. *Science Communication*, 42(5), 679–697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547020950735</u>
- Hasell, A., & Weeks, B. E. (2016). Partisan provocation: The role of partisan news use and emotional responses in political information sharing in social media. *Human Communication Research*, 42(4), 641–61. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12092">https://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12092</a>

- Hindman, M. (2018). *The internet trap: How the digital economy builds monopolies and undermines democracy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hobolt, S. B., Leeper, T. J., & Tilley, J. (2021). Divided by the vote: Affective polarization in the wake of the Brexit referendum. *British Journal of Political Science*, *51*(4), 1476–1493. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123420000125</u>
- Hopkins, D. J., & Ladd, J. M. (2013). The consequences of broader media choice: Evidence from the expansion of Fox News. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2070596</u>
- Iyengar, S., & Hahn, K. S. (2009). Red media, blue media: Evidence of ideological selectivity in media use. *Journal of Communication*, 59(1), 19–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2008.01402.x</u>
- Iyengar, S., Lelkes, Y., Levendusky, M., Malhotra, N., & Westwood, S. J. (2019). The origins and consequences of affective polarization in the United States. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 22(1), 129–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-051117-073034</u>
- Iyengar, S., Sood, G., & Lelkes, Y. (2012). Affect, not ideology. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *76*(3), 405–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfs038</u>
- Jamieson, K. H., & Cappella, J. N. (2008). *Echo chamber: Rush Limbaugh and the conservative media establishment*. Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press.
- Jang, S. M. (2013). Seeking congruency or incongruency online? Examining selective exposure to four controversial science issues. *Science Communication*, *36*(2), 143–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547013502733</u>
- Jang, S. M. (2014). Challenges to selective exposure: Selective seeking and avoidance in a multitasking media environment. *Mass Communication and Society*, *17*(5), 665–688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.2013.835425</u>
- Johnson, T. J., Zhang, W., & Bichard, S. H. (2011). Voices of convergence or conflict? A path analysis investigation of selective exposure to political websites. *Social Science Computer Review, 29*(4), 449–469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439310379962</u>
- Kaiser, J., & Rauchfleisch, A. (2020). Birds of a feather get recommended together: Algorithmic homophily in YouTube's channel recommendations in the United States and Germany. *Social Media + Society*, 6(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120969914</u>

- Kalogeropoulos, A., & Nielsen, R. K. (2018). Social inequalities in news consumption. Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. <u>https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/our-research/social-inequalities-news-consumption</u>
- Kim, M., & Lu, Y. (2020). Testing partial selective exposure in a multidimensional choice context: Evidence from a conjoint experiment. *Mass Communication* and Society, 23(1), 107–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.2019.1636283</u>
- Knobloch-Westerwick, S., & Meng, J. (2009). Looking the other way: Selective exposure to attitude-consistent and counterattitudinal political information. *Communication Research*, 36(3), 426–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650209333030</u>

Knobloch-Westerwick, S., Johnson, B. K., Silver, N. A., & Westerwick, A. (2015). Science exemplars in the eye of the beholder: How exposure to online science information affects attitudes. *Science Communication*, *37*(5), 575–601. https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547015596367

- Kreiss, D. (2019). From epistemic to identity crisis: Perspectives on the 2016 U.S. presidential election. *International Journal of Press/Politics*, *24*(3), 383–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161219843256
- Levendusky, M. S. (2013). Why do partisan media polarize viewers? *American Journal of Political Science*, *57*(3), 611–623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12008</u>
- Levendusky, M. S., & Malhotra, N. (2016). Does media coverage of partisan polarization affect political attitudes? *Political Communication*, *33*(2), 283–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2015.1038455</u>
- Martin, G. J., & McCrain, J. (2019). Local news and national politics. *American Political Science Review*, *113*(2), 372–384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055418000965</u>
- Masip, P., Suau, J., & Ruiz-Caballero, C. (2020). Incidental exposure to non-likeminded news through social media: Opposing voices in echo-chambers' news feeds. *Media and Communication*, 8(4), 53–62. https://doi.org/10.17645/mac.v8i4.3146
- Mason, L. (2013). The rise of uncivil agreement: Issue versus behavioral polarization in the American electorate. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *57*(1), 140–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764212463363</u>
- Mason, L. (2015). 'I disrespectfully agree': The differential effects of partisan sorting on social and issue polarization. *American Journal of Political Science*, *59*(1), 128–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12089</u>

- McPherson, M., Smith-Lovin, L., & Cook, J. M. (2001). Birds of a feather: Homophily in social networks. *Annual Review of Sociology, 27*(1), 415–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.415</u>
- Merkley, E., & Stecula, D. A. (2018). Party elites or manufactured doubt? The informational context of climate change polarization. *Science Communication*, 40(2), 258–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547018760334</u>
- Merkley, E., & Stecula, D. A. (2020). Party cues in the news: Democratic elites, republican backlash, and the dynamics of climate skepticism. *British Journal of Political Science*, 1–18. <u>http://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123420000113</u>
- Merkley, E., Bridgman, A., Loewen, P. J., Owen, T., Ruths, D., & Zhilin, O. (2020). A rare moment of cross-partisan consensus: Elite and public response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, *53*(2), 311–318. <u>http://doi.org/10.1017/S0008423920000311</u>
- Nelson, J. L., & Webster, J. G. (2017). The myth of partisan selective exposure: A portrait of the online political news audience. *Social Media* + *Society*, *3*(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305117729314.
- Newman, N., Fletcher, R., Schulz, A., Andı, S., Robertson, C. T., & Nielsen, R. K. (2021). *Reuters Institute Digital News Report 2021*. Oxford: Reuters Institute for the Study of Journalism. <u>http://www.digitalnewsreport.org/</u>
- Nielsen, R. K., & Fletcher, R. (2020). Democratic creative destruction? The effect of a changing media landscape on democracy. In N. Persily & J. A. Tucker (Eds.), *Social media and democracy: The state of the field, prospects for reform* (pp. 139–162). Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Nisbet, E. C., Cooper, K. E., & Garrett, R. K. (2015). The partisan brain: How dissonant science messages lead conservatives and liberals to (dis)trust science. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *658*(1),36–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716214555474</u>
- Painter, J., & Ashe, T. (2012). Cross-national comparison of the presence of climate scepticism in the print media in six countries, 2007–10. *Environmental Research Letters*, 7(4), 044005. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/4/044005</u>
- Pariser, E. (2011). *The filter bubble: What the internet is hiding from you*. London: Viking.
- Phillips, W., & Milner, R. M. (2017). *The ambivalent internet: Mischief, oddity, and antagonism online*. Cambridge, and Malden, MA: Polity Press.

- Prior, M. (2005). News vs. entertainment: How increasing media choice widens gaps in political knowledge and turnout. *American Journal of Political Science*, 49(3), 577–592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2005.00143.x</u>
- Prior, M. (2013). Media and political polarization. *Annual Review of Political Science*, *16*(1), 101–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-100711-135242</u>
- Rehm, P., & Reilly, T. (2010). United we stand: Constituency homogeneity and comparative party polarization. *Electoral Studies, 29*(1), 40–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electstud.2009.05.005</u>
- Reiljan, A. (2020). 'Fear and loathing across party lines' (also) in Europe: Affective polarisation in European party systems. *European Journal of Political Research*, 59(2), 376–396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6765.12351</u>
- Rogowski, J. C., & Sutherland, J. L. (2016). How ideology fuels affective polarization. *Political Behavior, 38*(2), 485–508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-015-9323-7</u>
- Scharkow, M., Mangold, F., Stier, S., & Breuer, J. (2020). How social network sites and other online intermediaries increase exposure to news. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(6), 2761–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1918279117</u>
- Scheufele, D. A., & Krause, N. M. (2019). Science audiences, misinformation, and fake news. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(16), 7662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805871115</u>
- Scheufele, D. A., Jamieson, K. H., & Kahan, D. M. (2017). Conclusion on the horizon: The changing science communication environment. In K. H. Jamieson, D. M. Kahan, & D. A. Scheufele (eds.), *The Oxford handbook on the science of science communication*, 461–467. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Schmidt, A. L., Zollo, F., Scala, A., Betsch, C., & Quattrociocchi, W. (2018). Polarization of the vaccination debate on Facebook. *Vaccine*, *36*(25), 3606– 3612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.05.040</u>
- Skovsgaard, M., Shehata, A., & Strömbäck, J. (2016). Opportunity structures for selective exposure: Investigating selective exposure and learning in Swedish election campaigns using panel survey data. *International Journal of Press/Politics, 21*(4), 527–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161216658157</u>
- Starbird, K. (2017). Examining the alternative media ecosystem through the production of alternative narratives of mass shooting events on Twitter. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, 11(1). <u>https://ojs.aaai.org/index.php/ICWSM/article/view/14878</u>

- Starbird, K., Arif, A., & Wilson, T. (2019). Disinformation as collaborative work: Surfacing the participatory nature of strategic information operations. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction, 3*(CSCW), article 127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3359229</u>
- Stroud, N. J. (2017). Understanding and overcoming selective exposure and judgment when communicating about science. In K. H. Jamieson, D. M. Kahan, & D. A. Scheufele (eds.), *The Oxford handbook on the science of science communication*, 377–388. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Thorson, K. (2020). Attracting the news: Algorithms, platforms, and reframing incidental exposure. *Journalism*, *21*(8), 1067–1082. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884920915352
- Trilling, D., & Schoenbach, K. (2015). Challenging selective exposure: Do online news users choose sites that match their interests and preferences? *Digital Journalism*, *3*(2), 140–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2014.899749</u>
- Trilling, D., van Klingeren, M., & Tsfati, Y. (2017). Selective exposure, political polarization, and possible mediators: Evidence from the Netherlands. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, 29(2), 189–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpor/edw003</u>
- Tucker, J. A., Guess, A., Barberá, P., Vaccari, C., Siegel, A., Sanovich, S., Stukal, D., & Nyhan, B. (2018). Social media, political polarization, and political disinformation: A review of the scientific literature. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3144139</u>
- Vaccari, C., Valeriani, A., Barberá, P., Bonneau, R., Jost, J. T., Nagler, J., & Tucker, J. A. (2015). Political expression and action on social media: Exploring the relationship between lower- and higher-threshold political activities among Twitter users in Italy. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 20*(2), 221–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12108</u>
- Vaccari, C., Valeriani, A., Barberá, P., Jost, J. T., Nagler, J., & Tucker, J. A. (2016). Of echo chambers and contrarian clubs: Exposure to political disagreement among German and Italian users of Twitter. *Social Media* + *Society*, 2(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305116664221</u>
- Van Aelst, P., Strömbäck, J., Aalberg, T., Esser, F., de Vreese, C., Matthes, J., Hopmann, D., Salgado, S., Hubé, N., Stępińska, A., Papathanassopoulos, S., Berganza, R., Legnante, G., Reinemann, C., Sheafer, T., & Stanyer, J. (2017). Political communication in a high-choice media environment: A challenge for democracy? *Annals of the International Communication Association*, *41*(1), 3–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2017.1288551</u>

- Wang, D., & Qian, Y. (2021). Echo chamber effect in rumor rebuttal discussions about COVID-19 in China: Social media content and network analysis study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(3), e27009. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/27009</u>
- Webster, J. G. (2014). *The marketplace of attention: How audiences take shape in a digital age*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Webster, J. G., & Ksiazek, T. B. (2012). The dynamics of audience fragmentation: Public attention in an age of digital media. *Journal of Communication*, 62(1), 39–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2011.01616.x</u>
- Weeks, B. E., Ksiazek, T. B., & Holbert, R. L. (2016). Partisan enclaves or shared media experiences? A network approach to understanding citizens' political news environments. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 60(2), 248– 268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2016.1164170</u>
- West, J. D., & Bergstrom, C. T. (2021). Misinformation in and about science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118*(15), e1912444117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1912444117</u>
- Williams, H. T. P., McMurray, J. R., Kurz, T., & Lambert, F. H. (2015). Network analysis reveals open forums and echo chambers in social media discussions of climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, *32*, 126–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.03.006</u>
- Wojcieszak, M., Menchen-Trevino, E., Goncalves, J. F. F., & Weeks, B. (2021). Avenues to news and diverse news exposure online: Comparing direct navigation, social media, news aggregators, search queries, and article hyperlinks. *International Journal of Press/Politics*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/19401612211009160</u>
- Wojcieszak, M., Azrout, R., & de Vreese, C. (2018). Waving the red cloth: Media coverage of a contentious issue triggers polarization. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 82(1), 87–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfx040</u>
- Yang, T., Majó-Vázquez, S., Nielsen, R. K., & González-Bailón, S. (2020). Exposure to news grows less fragmented with an increase in mobile access. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 117(46), 28678–28683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006089117</u>
- Yeo, S. K., Xenos, M. A., Brossard, D., & Scheufele, D. A. (2015). Selecting our own science: How communication contexts and individual traits shape information seeking. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 658(1), 172–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716214557782</u>

